IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF RACHAEL KAY SOKOL AND
DAVID LANGDON SOKOL

Upon the Petition of)
)
RACHAEL KAY SOKOL,)
)
Applicant/Petitioner/Appellee,) S.C. NO. 21-1918
)
And Concerning)
)
DAVID LANGDON SOKOL,)
)
Resister/Respondent/Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM
THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JEANIE K. VAUDT, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW OF THE COURT
OF APPEALS' RULING, FILED AUGUST 17, 2022

Stacey N. Warren AT0008349
CashattWarren Family Law, P.C.
130 E. 3rd Street, Suite 203
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
Telephone: 515.421.9290
Facsimile: 515.414.8929
Email: stacey@cashattwarren.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPLICANT

Questions Presented

Statement of the Case

Applicant, Rachael Kay Sokol ("Rachael"), and Resistor, David Langdon Sokol ("David"), tried the dissolution of marriage action to the honorable Jeanie K. Vaudt on June 21 – 23, 2021. The district court filed its dissolution decree on August 23, 2021. (App. 66 - 91). The court weighed the evidence, made determinations about credibility, and entered an equitable decree. The court granted the parties shared physical care of their two minor children, divided their property, and ordered Rachael to pay David child support and spousal support. Each party requested the court reconsider certain decree terms, with David requesting the court award him more spousal support. Relevant to this application, Rachael did not appeal, but David appealed multiple decree provisions, including the district court's spousal support award.

At trial, the parties agreed that David should receive spousal support, but they disagreed on the amount and duration. At trial, in his testimony, David asked for spousal support for ten (10) years at \$10,000 per month. (Tr. Vol. III 90:6-11) Rachael proposed that David receive \$3,000 per month for four (4) years. The district court awarded David \$3,000 per month for four (4) years. In his motion to

reconsider, David requested the district court award him spousal support of \$5,000 per month for seven (7) years. (App. 98) The district court denied David's motion to reconsider the award and maintained the spousal support award of \$3,000 per month for four (4) years. It did so by referring to the decree's detailed analysis of the parties' incomes, employment, monthly expenses, needs, current debts, child support, its division of assets and liabilities, assessment of the factors pertinent to spousal support, and assessment of the credibility of the witnesses. The district court determined David was entitled to a period of rehabilitative alimony (as opposed to reimbursement or traditional alimony) to allow him to transition through the post-divorce period, and the amount and duration of the support awarded were appropriate and equitable. Only David appealed the district court decision.

This Court transferred the case to the Iowa Court of Appeals. On appeal (and for the first time), David requested that he be awarded \$11,625 per month for life. He was 43 years old at trial. On August 17, 2021, the court of appeals increased Rachael's support obligation to David to \$5,000 per month. (Ct. App. Ruling p. 15). Rachael applies for further review.

Statement of the Facts

The parties married in June 2002. When the district court entered the decree in August 2021, Rachael was 45 years old, David was 43 years old, and their

children were 14 years old and 7 years old. The children were entering ninth grade and second grade. Rachael was in good health and is an emergency room physician practicing in Des Moines. She had been in the same position since 2009 when the parties moved to Iowa. David was in good health and owned his own home repair/remodel business, which he also started in 2009 when the parties moved to Iowa.

Before moving to Iowa, David worked in sales and had an earnings history where he made over \$70,000 per year before moving to Iowa and which shows he can earn at least \$60,000 per year. David ran his home remodel/repair business and said he had no need to draw a salary. He has multiple employees, no business or personal debts, and runs a business without concern for details. He obtained multiple PPP loans and expected the second loan would be forgiven under the program guidelines.

The parties had maintained separate households since October 2019. Under the terms of a temporary stipulation, the parties had shared physical care of their children, and Rachael paid David \$5,000 per month lump sum under a temporary order entered in October 2019. This monthly amount was a combination of child and spousal support but did not include a breakdown between the two forms of support. At the time of trial, the parties had maintained separate households for nearly two years. David lived in a three-bedroom apartment in Johnston.

Argument

1. Was it err for the court of appeals to increase the trial court's spousal support award by \$2,000 per month and increase the duration of the award when the support recipient does not need more than \$5,000 per month in combined spousal support and child support to meet all of his monthly obligations?

This Court routinely holds, “while our review is de novo, we have emphasized that we accord the trial court considerable latitude. We will disturb the trial court’s order only when there has been a failure to do equity.” *In re Marriage of Gust*, 858 N.W.2d 402, 406 (Iowa 2015) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted); *accord In re Marriage of Maurer*, 874 N.W.2d 103, 106 (Iowa 2016). Courts are instructed by the legislature to equitably award spousal support by considering each criterion of Iowa Code section 598.21A(1). *Maurer at 107* (citations omitted). A court must consider those factors listed in Iowa Code section 598.21A (2021) when determining what spousal support is justified if any. *Id.* at 106-07.

When the district court entered its ruling, there were three (3) recognized forms of spousal support in Iowa: rehabilitative, reimbursement, and traditional. In its ruling, the district court included a detailed analysis of each factor listed in Iowa Code section 598.21(A). It determined that this was not a case for traditional alimony. The court of appeals also determined this was not a case for traditional

alimony and rejected David's new argument on appeal that he should receive \$11,625 per month in lifetime spousal support.

A considerable amount of the trial addressed David's monthly expenses (personal and business), the operation of his business, and his plans (or lack thereof) for a business model other than what he has been doing since 2009.

David's only breakdown of his monthly expenses (for his separate household) was shown on his affidavit of financial status (prepared and signed June 21, 2021), where he said he had \$8,156 in monthly expenses. (App. 798 – 800; Tr. Vol. III 32- 38). However, after the deduction of \$2,500 per month in attorney fees that he would not be paying following trial, his monthly expense went down to \$5,656. David did not have any personal debts. (App. 798-800) He did not have a car payment. He did not have any business debts other than the building note, which was covered by the rental apartment income and the balance by his business. And at trial, he asked for \$10,000 per month (for ten years) without providing the court with any basis for the request.

David had paid his expenses for nearly two years at the time of trial with what he had received under the temporary order. He had no personal debts he was paying for in January 2020 and had no credit card debts. (Ex. 29) And; in June 2021, David still had no personal debts and no credit card debts. (App. 798-800;

Vol. III 71:8-25) David had paid all his attorney fees, and nothing was owed to his attorneys. The court of appeals agreed. (Ct. App. Ruling p. 16)

David provided no testimony about any basis for an increase in his monthly expenses in the future. He agreed that his future house payment would be in the same range as his current rent payment, as shown on his Affidavit of Financial Status. (App. 798-800) He was awarded liquid assets that he could use to purchase a home. Rachael was ordered to pay the children's expenses, including activities and medical expenses. David had no obligation for the children's expenses outside his household expenses. Those expenses can also be removed from his listing of monthly expenses, as shown on his Affidavit of Financial Status.

Rachael did not pay for David's business expenses. His business paid for itself, and he could employ multiple people. David saw no need to draw a salary, but there is no evidence in the record to show he could not draw a salary. Just because David reinvested the money in his business did not mean he could not draw a salary. The only evidence of a reinvestment or loan to his business was in 2019, immediately after the start of the dissolution action. (Tr. Vol. II 83:24-25; 84:3-6). The court of appeals erred in using this unsubstantiated claim by David as support for increasing the monthly support award in amount and duration.

The court of appeals erred in finding that David "cannot presently support himself at a standard of living comparable to that he experienced pre-dissolution"

because there was no evidence regarding the parties' pre-dissolution standard of living (outside of an annual trip to Mexico). David did not take the time to answer any interrogatories regarding his need for alimony. (Ex. 40) David did not dispute the district court's determination that he could earn \$50,000 annually. The court of appeals found he could draw this from his business or shift careers back into sales and make this amount. The district court balanced the parties needs against earnings and earning capacity, present standards of living, and ability to pay.

The district court's award of offset child support of \$2,000 per month plus the spousal support of \$3,000 per month allowed David to meet all his present and likely future monthly expenses. This \$5,000 in combined child and spousal support is the same awarded to David under the terms of the temporary order, which was entered under the parties' temporary stipulation. The court of appeals failed to note that the district court's total amount payable to David post-decree was the same as the temporary order. The temporary order was not \$5,000 in spousal support alone.

At 43 years old, David has many years ahead of him to earn income. He does not require any additional training or education. He was in good physical and mental health. He made no attempts to find any other employment and had no plans to sell his business. (Tr. III 151:23-25) David received substantial liquid assets in the division of the parties' assets. He could put a down payment on a home.

As shown throughout David's testimony at trial, he had no details other than what he put on his Affidavit of Financial Status. His lack of details and accurate information frustrated the district court. There is no piece of evidence or line of testimony to support any claim of need for monthly support – which includes support he receives for the children – in excess of \$5,000 per month **combined**. (Tr. Vol. I, II, III) There was no inequity in the award of spousal support. There was no gap to fill. And, there is no basis for the court of appeals to ignore the \$2,000 per month in offset child support that David will receive from Rachael. The \$3,000 in monthly alimony combined with her other income permits David to maintain his standard of living and maintain his self-sufficiency. See Iowa Code § 598.21A(1)(f) (2021).

Rachael provided all the details regarding the parties' assets, liabilities, and monthly expenses related to the children. Her Affidavit of Financial Status was detailed, supported by her income records, her pay stubs, and the documentation regarding monthly debt obligations. (App. 631-636) Her testimony was consistent. Rachael provided credible evidence for the district court to rely upon in determining the parties' needs, her ability to pay support, the parties' standards of living, and valuations of assets. (Tr. Vol. III 50-55) She was the only party to provide the district court with a proposed division of assets and liabilities. (App. 795-797) The evidence presented to which Rachael testified showed she had a net

monthly income of \$21,358.98, monthly household expenses of \$14,292.95 (without any support), and monthly installment payment debts of \$1,074, leaving her \$6,093.43 per month from which to pay support obligations. This evidence was not disputed.

Further, the court of appeals upheld the district court's determination of Rachael's annual income. After payment of the district court's award of \$2,000 per month in offset child support and \$3,000 per month in spousal support, Rachael is left with \$1,093. The court of appeals increased the amount of support to \$5,000 per month (from \$3,000 per month), leaving Rachael in the negative each month. The court of appeals did not refer to any contrary evidence as to Rachael's ability to pay.

The court of appeals also provided no basis for an increase in the duration of the spousal support award. Based on the lack of evidence in any form, the court of appeals increased an obligation another three years without consideration of any of the factors under Iowa Code section 598.21A.

Further, David received a break from the district court as it established his child support on an annual income of \$50,000 per month. It did not include the monthly spousal support (\$36,000 annual) as an additional monthly income for child support calculations. However, the court of appeals increased David's monthly spousal support to \$60,000 per year and left his annual income for child

support as \$50,000. Both child support and spousal support are tax-free to David. Rachael must pay both obligations with after-tax dollars. *Mann*, 943 N.W.2d at 21; see Iowa Code § 598.21A(1)(g) (2021) (the court must consider the tax consequences to each party).

The court of appeals erred in increasing the amount of monthly spousal support and the duration of the spousal support award without any support in the record. The district court's decision is replete with issues regarding David's lack of detail, illogical explanations, inappropriate valuations, and failure to disclose or provide information when requested during litigation. This goes to the credibility and candor of the witnesses. The district court was in the best position to assess the credibility of the witnesses and weigh the evidence each party presented about their requested relief. David provided three (3) different requests for spousal support – two to the district court and one to the court of appeals – should not be ignored. Further, the fact that there is no basis to support any of those three requests in the record presented should not be overlooked by this Court in assessing the merits of this application for further review.

2. Did the court of appeals err in comparing the support recipient's situation to that of the support recipient in *In re Marriage of Pazhoor*, 971 N.W. 2d 530 (Iowa 2022) when this recipient's position is indistinguishable from that of the support recipient in *In re Marriage of Mann*, 943 N.W.2d 15 (Iowa 2020)?

The court of appeals cited *Pazhoor* to introduce the concept of “transitional alimony” which is to be used to aid in the transition of the lesser earning spouse into single living. However, it appears that only the instructional portion of *Pazhoor* is applicable to this case. In *Pazhoor*, the spouses had an agreement that the husband would work while the wife stayed home with the children. This Court noted that the wife had not worked outside the home since the birth of the children and concluded that transitional alimony did not apply. This Court found appropriate and awarded reimbursement alimony to the wife for her sacrifices.

In its ruling, the court of appeals compares *Pazhoor* with David's situation, but instead cites to the portion of *Pazhoor* that explains the rationale behind transitional alimony – not the rationale that was used in the disposition of the case.

This case is akin to *In re Marriage of Mann* and the district court properly relied on *Mann* in awarding David \$3,000 per month in spousal support for forty-eight months. Here, Rachael improved her earning capacity on her own and without sacrifices made by David. Additionally, after moving to Iowa, David was participating in running his own business, but was not well-versed in following a

business model for operations (and remained in a similar mindset at the time of trial). In *Mann*, the Court noted the problem was the issue of how the support recipient failed to bill his accounts properly, not that he lacked skills or training.

The *Pazhoor* decision was issued after the district court's decree in this case. The court of appeals reliance on *Pazhoor* in this case will cause confusion if the decision is allowed to stand. David does not need assistance in transitioning into single life – he has supported himself for nearly two years at the time of trial. He does not need re-education or training. David does not argue that spousal support is necessary to support a standard of living. He has liquid assets, income-generating property, and substantial cash in bank accounts. There is a basis for a short-term of spousal support and the rationale in this case is more like *Mann* than *Pazhoor*, with the greater income disparity providing the basis for the \$3,000 per month in spousal support for 4 years.

This Court should grant further review to clarify that this case is akin to *Mann* and affirm the district court's spousal support award.

Conclusion

Based on the foregoing, this Court should grant further review, vacate the court of appeals decision regarding the spousal support provisions and vacate the appellate award of attorney fees based solely upon the court of appeals modification of alimony, and affirm the district court's alimony award and all other provisions.