IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF RACHAEL KAY SOKOL AND DAVID LANGDON SOKOL

Upon the Petition of)	
RACHAEL KAY SOKOL,)	
Applicant/Petitioner/Appellee,)	S.C. NO. 21-1918
)	S.C. NO. 21-1710
And Concerning)	
DAVID LANGDON SOKOL,)	
Resister/Respondent/Appellant.)	

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY THE HONORABLE JEANIE K. VAUDT, JUDGE

RESISTANCE TO APPELLEE'S APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS' RULING, FILED AUGUST 17, 2022

> Tyler J. Johnston AT0003982 CORDELL & CORDELL 666 Walnut Street, Suite 1710 Des Moines, Iowa 50309 Telephone: (515) 985-5855 Facsimile: (515) 608-4698

Email: tjohnston@cordelllaw.com ATTORNEY FOR RESISTER

Statement of the Facts

The parties were married on June 8, 2002, and had been married for 19 years at the time of the trial. Rachael was in medical school at the time the parties were married. She graduated in 2005 and began her four-year residency in Michigan. She completed this residency in 2009 and the parties moved to Iowa to further Rachael's career.

At the time of trial, Rachael was 45 years old and an emergency room doctor. The district court determined that she earned an annual salary of \$440,000.00 per year. (App. 70). Rachael had also been previously earning an additional \$46,000.00 per year as the medical director, but she had voluntarily left that position. (App. 231, ln 15-23). Rachael's Affidavit of

Financial Status indicated that she had a net monthly income of \$21,358.98. Her listed expenses, including several discretionary expenses, still resulted in a surplus of over \$6,000.00 per month. (App. 631-637; Exhibit 1, Petitioner's Affidavit of Financial Status). Rachael did not testify regarding any health concerns she had for herself.

David was 43 years old at the time of trial and was self-employed as a home remodeler. He owned his own business, Home Doctor, LLC. The district court imputed David's income at \$50,000.00 despite David not drawing an income since he had moved to Iowa in 2009. (App. 71). David testified that he was required to move to Iowa to further Rachael's career and that he left a good job in order to do so. While living in Michigan, David had worked in furniture sales as a manager. He also testified that he could not find a similar position in Des Moines. (App. 459 ln 18-19). David's business had suffered during the COVID-19 pandemic, and he had difficulty drawing any income during that time. In 2009, when the parties relocated to Iowa, David primarily cared for Ka.R.S. while Rachael focused on her career and financially supported the family. He stayed home with the children and then started working on Home Doctor (App. 467, ln 15:18). David did not testify regarding any health concerns he had for himself.

Since the separation in October of 2019, the parties maintained separate households, with Rachael living in the martial home and David renting an apartment. Pursuant to the temporary stipulation, the parties had physical care of their children and Rachael paid David \$5,000.00 per month as a lump sum for child support and spousal support.

David earned only slightly more than 10% of Rachael's earnings even after deducting the additional income Rachael had before she voluntarily left her position as the medical director. Despite this disparity in incomes, and this being a 19-year marriage, the district court only awarded alimony in the amount of \$3,000.00 per month for a period of 48 months. The court of appeals increased Rachael's support obligation to David to \$5,000.00 per month for a period of seven (7) years.

Argument

Rachael provides no reasonable argument that the court of appeals erred in increasing the spousal support obligation and the duration of the support payments. This court should deny further review.

1. The court of appeals correctly increased the amount and duration of spousal support awarded by the trial court to assist David's transition to single life and to provide a comparable standard of living to his situation pre-dissolution.

The award of spousal support provided by the district court was not substantial enough to do justice and equity between the parties. Substantial

awards are approved where the parties were married for a significant period of time, one spouse was unskilled, and the other had significantly greater earning capacity. *In re Marriage of Whitehurst*, 853 N.W.2d 301 (Iowa Ct. App. 2014). This is the same set of circumstances that we are dealing with in this matter. The parties were married for 19 years. David works as a general contractor for his own business. Rachael has a significantly greater earning capacity than David.

The district court determined that David could reach an earning capacity of \$50,000.00 per year. (App. 71). This is despite the fact that David testified that his earning capacity had been severely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and the 2020 derecho storm which damaged his business. He testified that he did not have an income at the time of trial. (App. 472, ln 5-13).

Rachael had voluntarily reduced her income by leaving her position as the medical director, which deducted \$46,000.00 per year from her pay. She testified that she still made \$440,000.00 per year at the time of trial. (App. 202, In 7:8). Exhibit 22, Rachael's W2, and Exhibit 23, Rachael's Social Security Statement show that in 2019, Rachael made \$502,645.00 in gross income and in 2020, she made \$497,701.00 in gross income. (App. 780-788).

The evidence at trial indicated that the parties had a very comfortable standard of living. Rachael was able to travel with the children on various occasions to see friends and family in Alaska. (App. 475, ln 1-10). The parties owned time shares and traveled to Mexico at least once per year with the children. Since the separation, Rachael had traveled with the children to Mexico twice. (App. 306 in 21:25).

Discretionary expenses were included in Rachael's affidavit of financial status. Rachel listed a \$1,000.00 per month expense in continued travel. She also listed the discretionary expenses of \$1,100.00 per month for a nanny and \$400.00 per month for housekeeping. Along with these inflated expenses, Rachael estimated her monthly expenses to continue to be \$14,191.95 (App 631-637, Petitioner's Exhibit 1). With her income determined to be \$440,000.00 per year, she has a net monthly income of approximately \$23,184.00 per month after taxes. This leaves Rachael the ability to maintain her standard of living, while also having the ability to pay spousal support as awarded by the court of appeals.

As part of this Application for Further Review, Rachael discusses the breakdown of David's monthly expenses as set forth on his affidavit of financial status. (App. 798 – 800; Respondent's Exhibit A). David testified that when filling out his affidavit of financial status he, "honestly, didn't

know what we're looking – what the Court was looking for specifically. I did what I thought was right." (App. 514, ln 4-6). David's expenses are much more conservative than the expenses listed by Rachael. For example, he listed his monthly vacation expense at only \$150.00 per month on his affidavit. (App. 800). In addition, he did not list expenses for a housekeeper, or a nanny, and has significantly less of a monthly rental payment. Rachael seems to claim that further expenses should be removed from David's list provided as part of his financial affidavit. She has not provided any basis whatsoever of why additional expenses or what expenses could be removed, other than future attorney fees. Additionally, even if you accept Rachael's argument that his monthly expenses will only be \$5,656.00 in the future, that still equates to nearly \$70,000.00 per year in expenses. Again, the district court determined that David could reach an earning capacity of \$50,000.00 per year, despite the fact that he has not been capable of doing that in some time. (App. 71). This earning capacity does not allow David to breakeven on his expenses, let alone enjoy a similar quality of life that was maintained pre-dissolution. The district court's spousal support award of \$3,000.00 did not do equity between these parties.

Rachael also seems to argue that the court of appeals failed to consider the offset amount of child support when making its determination

regarding spousal support. The amount of child support awarded by the district court is a separate issue from the spousal support award. The fact that the child support offset was not specifically addressed by the court of appeals when discussing spousal support is irrelevant to this discussion.

Rachael also tries to claim that David may have had the ability to draw a salary from his business. However, there is no evidence in the record to support that to be the case and the court of appeals also could not make that assumption. In fact, the only evidence that is in the record is contrary to Rachael's claim. David testified that he had to provide a loan to the business in 2019 and that he has never drawn a salary or income from Home Doctor, LLC. (App. 83, ln 14-25 and App. 84, ln 1-15).

The appellate court recognized that a hybrid award would be appropriate and cited to the *Pazhoor* decision recognizing that, "There are inequities in dissolution beyond a spouse's "economic sacrifices" that "directly enhance[d] the future earning capacity of the other," a spouse's need for education or retraining to become self-sufficient, or a spouse's responsibility to support the other "so long as a dependent spouse is incapable of self-support." *Pazhoor*, 971 N.W.2d at 541. In addition, *Pazhoor* stated, "Transitional alimony can ameliorate inequity unaddressed by the other recognized categories of support. Divorcing spouses must adjust

to single life. If one is better equipped for that adjustment and the other will face hardship, then transitional alimony can be awarded to address that inequity and bridge the gap." *Id.* at 542.

The court of appeals determined that the factors of this case supported an increase in the award, but that a permanent award was not necessary. (Ct. App. Ruling p. 14). It was correctly determined that even at an imputed income of \$50,000.00 for David, there would be no way for him to have a comparable standard of living as he did pre-dissolution, without the additional award of spousal support. Rachael has sufficient funds, after payment of all of her expenses, to satisfy this alimony award.

In *Gust*, the Court observed that a traditional spousal support award is normally payable until the death of either party, the payee's remarriage, or until the dependent is capable of self-support at the lifestyle to which the party was accustomed during the marriage. *Gust*, 858 N.W.2d at 412. This was nearly a 20-year marriage. David supported Rachael and helped her grow her earning capacity, to the detriment of his own. He relocated for Rachael's residency then relocated again and quit his own job so Rachael could pursue her chosen career.

Whether to award alimony depends on the peculiar factors of each case. *In re Marriage of Fleener*, 247 N.W.2d 219, 220 (Iowa 1976). The

discretionary award of alimony can only be awarded after the court considers the factors listed in Iowa Code Section 598.21A(1)(a) - (i). The court of appeals correctly reviewed those factors and increased both the spousal support award and its length.

This was nearly a 20-year marriage, there is a large disparity between the incomes of Rachael and David, and this award is needed for David to maintain the lifestyle he was accustomed to during the marriage. Rachael has provided no relevant information that was previously unknown by the court of appeals.

2. The court of appeals' decision is not contrary to In re Marriage of Pazhoor or In re Marriage of Mann.

Rachael claims this case is akin to *Mann* and seems to imply that the court of appeals' ruling somehow conflicts with that matter. While there was a gap between the earnings of the parties in *Mann*, the incomes were nowhere near as disparate as they are in this matter. *Mann*, 943 N.W.2d at 7. The trial court in *Mann* found that the parties had a similar earning capacity. *Id.* In this matter, the district court found, and the court of appeals affirmed, that the earning capacity of Rachael and David is substantial. (Ct. App. Ruling p. 15). Additionally, in *Mann*, the court found that the husband had not sacrificed his ability to earn income at the expense of his spouse's career. *Mann*, 943 N.W.2d at 14.

Marked disparity of income is a relevant factor in considering the question of an award of alimony. Gust, 858 N.W.2d at 411-12. David was forced to leave a good paying job in Michigan so the parties could move to Iowa and Rachael could pursue her career. In addition, he helped take care of the family and put his career on hold while Rachael started her career. Rachael earned her degree while the parties were married. In addition, the district court treated Rachael's student loan debt as a marital debt. (App. 88). The Mann court also noted that the lesser earning husband did not do the work necessary to further his business, seemed to enjoy a more convenient work schedule, and that the assets were accrued disproportionately by the parties due to the actions of the wife. Id. at 15-16. The district court stated in its decision that, "David went to work early each morning by 6:30 a.m. and did not return home until after 6:00 p.m. at night." (App. 79). There is nothing in the record that indicates David was not working hard at running his business, or that the martial assets that were divided between these parties were gained because of the superior efforts of Rachael.

Further, the court of appeals' use of the *Pazhoor* decision does not cause confusion as alleged by Rachael. Rachael claims David does not need assistance in transitioning into single life and that he has supported himself for nearly two years at the time of trial. However, David had been receiving

support from Rachael during that time. David testified that he was unable to maintain his same standard of living, although the evidence showed that Rachael was able to do so. (App. 631-637, Petitioner's Exhibit 1 and App. 798-800, Respondent's Exhibit A). David cannot support himself at a comparable standard of living that he enjoyed prior to the dissolution. The difference in earning capacity and length of marriage warrants the increased spousal support award and length of the award as considered in *Pazhoor*.

Pazhoor stated that "Transitional alimony is not need when the recipient has sufficient income or liquid assets to facilitate the change to single life. Pazhoor, 971 N.W.2d at 545). The court of appeals correctly found that David does not have the income necessary to make that transition, without the additional support from Rachael. The court of appeals determined that \$5,000.00 per month would help him make that transition, and to give him time to build his business and to begin to draw sufficient income from that business to maintain a comparable standard of living. Rachael does not address any specific inconsistencies that would result from the court of appeals' citation to Pazhoor in this matter. Rachael points to David not needing re-education or training. Again, David's business is not able to support him at this time. The court of appeals found that David needed the additional assistance to make the transition to single life and to

provide him a comparable standard of living to what he had before the dissolution. (Ct. App. Ruling p. 15).

Conclusion

Rachael has not provided any conflict with a decision of this court or any factual basis to review the previous decision of the court of appeals. The court of appeals properly evaluated the decision of the district court and correctly modified that decision. There is no legal or factual basis for this Court to grant further review and David would ask the Court to deny Rachael's application for further review.